STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 07 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BYRON LABRON RIVERS,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000054

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the Confrontation Clause objection was not preserved for appellate review when, at trial, counsel objected to allowing a detective to testify to the results of a gun-shot residue test from the co-defendant without calling the witness who conducted the test, stating that the detective was not an expert in the actual testing of GSR kits and then specifically stating that the testimony as to the results of the test violated Petitioner's right to confront witnesses?
  
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that, if preserved, the trial judge correctly found that defense counsel opened the door to allowing a detective, who did not conduct the gunshot residue test, to testify about the results of the gunshot residue test from the co-defendant in violation of Petitioner's right to confront witnesses?

## STATEMENT

In April of 2017, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Byron Labron Rivers, for the murder of Kirby Fyall, the attempted murder of Antonio Fyall and Johnell Watson, armed robbery of Sanquan Fyall and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2017-GS-10-2174, 2107, 2106, 1891, 2108.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 593-600). In April of 2019, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for five additional counts of armed robbery and burglary first degree, indictments #2019-GS-10-1893, 1894, 1890, 1899 1889 and 2143.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 601-608). On June 10, 2019, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy. Benjamin Mack and Teresa Norris represented Petitioner at trial. Christopher Lietzow and David Osborne prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner not guilty of three counts of armed robbery but guilty of the other charges. Judge McCoy sentenced Petitioner to life in prison for murder, thirty (30) years concurrent for two counts of attempted murder, thirty (30) years concurrent for three counts of armed robbery, life in prison for burglary first degree, and five (5) years concurrent for the weapon charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on July 25, 2019, and the direct appeal perfected. On November 17, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in an unpublished opinion. State v. Rivers, Op. No. 2021-UP-395 (S.C.Ct.App. filed Nov. 10, 2021). (App. pp. 1-2). A petition for rehearing was timely filed and then denied on December 16, 2021. (App. pp. 3-14). The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on January 18, 2022. The return was filed on February 17, 2022.

---

<sup>1</sup> It is unclear who testified before the grand jury because the witness listed on the indictment is the North Charleston Police Department.

<sup>2</sup> Again, it is unclear who testified before the grand jury because the witness listed on the indictment is the North Charleston Police Department.

The reply to the return was filed on February 28, 2022. This Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari on September 7, 2022. This brief of petitioner follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the [circuit] court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.’ State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citation omitted).” State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 90, 773 S.E.2d 914, 921 (Ct. App. 2015).

## FACTS

On the evening of July 15, 2016, Sanquan “Mammus” Fyall, his brother, Kirby Fyall, his cousins, Antonio Fyall, Theodore Fyall and Johnell Watson, Johnell’s girlfriend, Eleanor Delesline, and their friend, Fredrick “Cam” Smalls were gathered at Sanquan’s apartment in the Chicora Cherokee neighborhood in North Charleston also known as “the Makin.” In his opening statement to the jury the prosecutor called the neighborhood “one of the most violent neighborhoods in North Charleston.” (R. p. 55, lines 4-5). Theodore testified that they were playing video games and Antonio admitted that they were smoking marijuana. (R. p. 124, lines 3-8; p. 287, lines 1-4). Theodore testified that there was a knock on the door and when Antonio answered the door two guys rushed in with guns, ordered everyone face down on the ground and started ransacking the house. (R. p. 124, lines 16-19). Theodore also testified that the men made everyone take their pants off. (R. p. 124, line 20).

Antonio testified that he answered the knock on the door because he thought it was a guy named Percy returning from the store. (R. p. 288, lines 6-17). When the two guys rushed in Antonio knew “something went off” but he did not realize he had been shot. (R. p. 287, lines 9-16). Antonio ran to the kitchen, kicked out the kitchen window and ran around the corner to Antonio Cumming’s house to get help. (R. p. 287, line 16 – p. 288, line 1; p. 289, lines 8-15; p. 290, lines 6-17). The others remained in the apartment. Fredrick Smalls testified that Petitioner stood by the door and told the other guy to search through the house. (R. p. 110, lines 2-9). Theodore Fyall, however, testified that, “Stacy [the co-defendant] was the guy that had us at gunpoint and the other individual was ransacking the apartment I guess, or whatever.” (R. p. 125, lines 9-11).

Smalls testified at trial, “So the young man over there with the dreads, his hair right there with the white shirt on, told the other guy let’s lift the couch up. And when he lift the couch up that’s when Kirby jump up from behind the couch and pushed the couch on him and that’s when he started shooting and he killed my home boy.” (R. p. 109, lines 10-15). Kirby Fyall was fatally shot. According to Smalls both men had guns but the other guy did not fire his gun. (R. p. 110, lines 10-12). Smalls testified that Johnell Watson was also shot. (R. p. 110, lines 22-25). Johnell Watson survived but did not testify at trial. Sanquan Fyall, who lived at the apartment and was present at the time of the incident, also did not testify at trial.

Antonio Cummings testified that Antonio Fyall came to his door bloody stating that they were robbing Sanquan “Mammus” Fyall. (R. p. 89, lines 19-25). Cummings testified that he and Percy went to Sanquan’s apartment and Percy knocked on the door. (R. p. 90, lines 9-16). As soon as Percy knocked on the door they heard gunshots. (R. p. 90, lines 16-19). Cummings testified that, “The guy came out the door with his friend on his back and a pillow case in one hand and a gun in the other hand. And Mammus [phonetic] Sanquan Fyall he was behind him and as soon as he seen me he started screaming my name and was like Tony, Tony he killed Kirb; don’t let him get away.” (R. p. 90, lines 20-25). According to Cummings he prevented the two men from getting into a white Chrysler. (R. p. 91, line 7 – p. 92, lines 1-20). Cummings testified that the Chrysler left upon hearing sirens and Cummings continued to follow the two men on foot. (R. p. 92, lines 19-21). Cummings saw the man who was carrying the other man put the man down on the ground, put the pillow case down, throw the gun and run. (R. p. 92, line 22 – p. 93, lines 1-15). Cummings chased him, hit him with the baseball bat and kept him until the police arrived. (R. p. 93, lines 16-22).

Officer Sara Fortier with the North Charleston Police Department was one of the first officers to arrive. She saw many people in the street and the Petitioner laying on the ground. (R. p. 67, lines 20-25). Officer Fortier also observed Cummings chasing Stacy Green (the co-defendant) and she pursued them on foot. (R. p. 68, line 2 – p. 69, lines 1-3). When she caught up with Cummings and Green they were both in a ditch. (R. p. 72, lines 19-25). Officer Fortier arrested Green and another officer searched him. (R. p. 73, lines 17-20). Green had Theodore Fyall's wallet and a TWIC card belonging to Fredrick Smalls. (R. p. 73, line 21 – p. 74, lines 1-11). Officer Fortier testified that Green was wearing a glove on his right hand. (R. p. 79, lines 2-10).

Officer James Greenawalt with the North Charleston Police Department was also one of the first officers to arrive. He testified that the scene was chaotic and he saw Petitioner on the ground. (R. p. 186, lines 14-24). Officer Greenawalt found a Walther firearm on the ground by a trash can about eight yards from Petitioner. (R. p. 187, lines 12-22). The Walther firearm, State's Exhibit #126, was a 40 caliber Smith and Wesson. (R. p. 428, line 2 – p. 429, lines 1-8). The pillow case that Antonio Cummings claimed to have seen dropped with the gun was not recovered that night. Another North Charleston Police Officer, Kyle Decedue, testified that he saw a black knit glove on Petitioner's right hand. (R. p. 198, lines 2-24). EMS treated Petitioner at the scene, removed his pants and discovered that he had a gunshot wound to the top of both thighs, a fractured femur and an unstable pelvis. (R. p. 313, lines 18-22).

Crime scene technician Anita Moore collected the 40 caliber Smith and Wesson and Petitioner's pants from the scene. (R. p. 229, line 25 – pp. 230 -235). Moore testified that the gun had one round in the chamber and seven rounds in the magazine. (R. p. 230, lines 8-13). Moore testified that she found a work ticket with Petitioner's name, a damaged cell phone and a

projectile in the pockets of the pants. (R. p. 232, line 2 – p. 233, 234, lines 1-23). Moore also testified that there was a bullet hole in the pants. (R. p. 233, lines 1-5). The case agent, Detective Robert Bailey, visited Petitioner the next day in the hospital. (R. p. 343, line 3 – p. 344, lines 1-12). Petitioner was still in the intensive care unit in critical but stable condition varying by the hour. (R. p. 344, lines 9-12). The State questioned Detective Bailey about gunshot residue [GSR] and the detective testified that he did not believe that a GSR kit was done on Petitioner. (R. p. 344, line 17 – p. 345, lines 1-16). The crime scene technician, Anita Moore, testified that she did GSR kits on the deceased, Kirby Fyall, and the co-defendant, Stacy Green. (R. p. 275, line 10 – p. 276, lines 1-23). Moore did not testify about the results of the GSR testing.

Detective Bailey testified that the day after the shooting he received a bag full of items from Rickey Fyall, Anthony Fyall's uncle. (R. p. 346, line 2 – p. 347, 348, lines 1-22). The detective testified that there was a Hi-Point 9 mm silver and black gun, 3 pairs of pants, a TWIC card belonging to Fredrick Smalls and various other items. (R. p. 348, lines 15-22). Rickey Fyall testified at trial that he went to the apartment on the night of the shooting and somebody handed him the bag. (R. p. 373, lines 14-19). When asked who gave him the bag Rickey testified that he did not remember her name. (R. p. 373, lines 20-21). Rickey admitted that he originally told law enforcement that he got the bag from a guy and a girl. (R. p. 373, lines 22-25). He admitted that Nashishi Walker was present when he got the bag and conceded that Nashishi was a crack head. (R. p. 374, lines 1-8). Rickey admitted that he gave somebody keys out of the bag before giving it to the detective. (R. p. 402, lines 1-7). Antonio Fyall admitted that on the night of the shooting he returned to the apartment and hid cocaine before the police arrived. (R. p. 293, line 21 – p. 294, lines 1-22; p. 304, line 2 – p. 315, lines 1-14).

The DNA profile developed from the swabs taken from the trigger and grip of the Hi-Point 9mm that Rickey Fyall provided to the detective the day after the shooting was a mixture of at least three individuals. (R. p. 479, lines 4-6). The partial DNA profile of the major contributor matched the DNA profile of Petitioner. (R. p. 479, lines 7-8). The ballistics expert from SLED testified that all of the shell casings collected from the scene and submitted for testing, including a 380 caliber cartridge, were fired by the Hi-Point 9 mm. (R. p. 439, lines 17-20). The testing of the five bullets submitted, however, was inconclusive as to whether fired by the Hi-Point 9 mm submitted. (R. p. 437, lines 2-6). The witness testified that the bullets submitted for testing were too small to have been fired by the only other gun submitted, State's Exhibit #126, the Walther 40 caliber Smith and Wesson found close to Petitioner. (R. p. 466, lines 1-3).

## ARGUMENTS

- 1. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Confrontation Clause objection was not preserved for appellate review when, at trial, counsel objected to allowing a detective to testify to the results of a gun-shot residue test from the co-defendant without calling the witness who conducted the test, stating that the detective was not an expert in the actual testing of GSR kits and then specifically stating that the testimony as to the results of the test violated Petitioner’s right to confront witnesses.**

At trial Petitioner objected to Detective Bailey testifying about the **results** of a gun-shot residue test from the co-defendant as a violation of the Confrontation Clause. The trial judge overruled on the objection based on the Confrontation Clause, attempting to distinguish the present case from Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 307, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2530, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009). The issue is preserved for appellate review.

The jury found Petitioner guilty of a shooting and robbery of Kirby Fyall and his family and friends at his brother, Sanquan Fyall’s apartment. During the direct examination of the case agent, Detective Robert Bailey, the State asked, “Explain to the jury the purpose of GSR, gunshot residue.” (R. p. 344, lines 17-18). The detective discussed GSR and then the State asked, “As the case agent were you made aware whether a GSR kit was conducted on Byron Rivers [Petitioner]?” (R. p. 345, lines 13-14). The detective answered, “I was not made aware and I do not believe a GSR kit was conducted on Mr. Rivers.” (R. p. 345, lines 15-16). On cross-examination, in response to the questioning about whether a GSR kit was done on Petitioner, trial counsel properly asked if a GSR kit was conducted on the co-defendant Stacy Green. (R. p. 360, line 3 – p. 361, line 1). The detective answered, “Yes, through my understanding of it.” (R. p. 360, line 24 – p. 361, line 1).

On redirect examination of Detective Bailey the State asked, “Do you know whether there was gunshot residue particles on Stacy Green?” (R. p. 369, lines 22-23). The detective

answered, “I do not.” (R. p. 369, line 24). The State then asked, “If I showed you a document would that help refresh your memory?” (R. p. 369, line 25 – p. 370, line 1). Counsel for Petitioner first objected stating “This gentleman is not an expert in the actual testing of GSR kits.” (R. p. 370, lines 4-5). The judge said, “I’m not sure that he is being offered as an expert –” (R. p. 370, lines 6-7). The State argued, “. . . I’m not. I’m just asking him if he was made aware. I’m trying to refresh his recollection with this document.” (R. p. 370, lines 8-10).

The judge ruled, “I’ll allow it at this point in time.” (R. p. 370, line 11). The trial judge erred. The objection that the detective was not an expert in the actual testing of GSR kits draws the distinction between permissible general questioning about GSR testing and if certain individuals were tested and impermissible questioning about the **result** of any GSR test determined by an expert. If the detective had forgotten whether or not the co-defendant was tested for GSR, the State could have refreshed his memory with the GSR report. The crime scene technician, Anita Moore, had already testified that she did GSR kits on the deceased, Kirby Fyall, and the co-defendant, Stacy Green. (R. p. 275, line 10 – p. 276, lines 1-23). Moore, however, did not testify about the **results** of the GSR testing. The detective should not have been able to testify to the **results** of the GSR test that he did not conduct.

The State then asked the Detective, “I’m showing you what has been marked as identification purposes only as State’s exhibit 189. Does that refresh your recollection on whether Mr. Green had gunshot residue particles on him?” (R. p. 370, lines 12-16). The detective answered, “It does and he did not.” (R. p. 370, line 18). State’s exhibit #189 is listed as the GSR report. (R. p. 390). The objection to allowing the detective, who did not conduct the GSR test, to testify about the **results** of the co-defendant’s GSR test was made shortly before the trial adjourned for the day. (R. pp. 370-382).

The very first thing the judge heard the following morning before the trial resumed before the jury was a renewal of the objection to allowing the detective to testify as to the results of the GSR test on the co-defendant, Green, and a motion for a mistrial. (R. p. 391, line 7 – p. 392, 393, 394, lines 1-16). Counsel said, “Your Honor, just - - just for clarification purposes, we renew our objection to Your Honor’s ruling allowing the detective to testify to gunshot residue - - ” (R. p. 391, lines 7-9). The judge asked, “The result he received?” (R. p. 391, line 10). Counsel answered, “ - - to conclusions. I submit that number one, he is not an expert in that that and it is the very definition of a violation of this young man’s right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. It is a little different than Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts. But that is the case where the Supreme Court said you can’t have a drug certificate from an analyst saying it is drugs and present it through somebody else. We have got a right to question and challenge that.” (R. p. 391, lines 11-19).

Counsel specifically argued the questioning violated Petitioner’s right to confront witnesses and specifically cited Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 307, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2530, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009). (R. p. 391, lines 11-19; p. 394, lines 7-8). Counsel for Petitioner argued:

The problem is, Judge, that I can’t cross-examine a man who didn’t do the test about what the test is, what it does, what it can show, what it can’t show. And I guarantee that if we put a gunshot residue expert on that witness stand I can ask the question – if I stood here right now and fired a weapon is it guaranteed I would have gunshot residue on me – and the answer would be no.

This young man is entitled to question that evidence, rather than just have someone who said he didn’t even remember read a report from somebody else doing a test saying yes there is not gunshot residue on this man.

(R. p. 392, line 17 – p. 393, lines 1-2). Counsel for Petitioner continued, “We just object. I think that took away this young man’s right to a fair trial, to confront and cross-examine the witnesses.

And if we don't fix it now, in my experience, my opinion, this thing is going to come back at us if he gets convicted." (R. p. 393, lines 4-8).

The State argued that Petitioner opened the door by asking if he was the case agent and by asking about GSR. (R. p. 392, lines 1-15; p. 393, lines 10-15). Counsel for Petitioner replied, "I asked if a kit was done. I didn't ask him what any kit showed. And as far as asking him about being a case agent, I asked him about what was already in evidence, was he aware that drugs were collected at that scene. It was already in. I didn't offer any expert opinion about that." (R. p. 393, lines 16-20). Defense counsel handed a copy of the Melendez-Diaz case to the judge. (R. p. 394, lines 1-14). The Confrontation Clause issue was raised to the trial judge.

The judge ruled on the Confrontation Clause issue stating:

I have taken an opportunity to review the case law the defense handed me as well as my recollection of the testimony that was presented on direct, cross, redirect. I am standing by my ruling yesterday. I find the door was opened by Ms. Norris as to the GSR results. The solicitor then on redirect then merely used the document to refresh the lead investigator's memory as to whether or not in fact these results were obtained. And then he testified they were and they were negative. So I don't find an issue with how that transpired. I do find that the door was opened by defense counsel on cross-examination, so I stand by my ruling. But your objection is more than covered for the record, Ms. Norris.

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