**RECEIVED**

**Oct 31 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

BYRON LABRON RIVERS,.....PETITIONER

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
**Appellate Case No. 2022-000054**  
**Opinion No. 2021-UP-395**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

SCARLETT WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282

P.O. Box 11549

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

is offered constitutes a waiver of that right. *Cogdill v. Watson*, 289 S.C. 531, 537 347 S.E.2d 126 (Ct. App. 1986). We have routinely held that a party must object at the first opportunity to preserve an issue for review. *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 312, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1999). A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003).

### **Discussion**

The Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in deciding that his argument was not preserved for appeal. Initially the Petitioner made an objection due to the fact that Detective Bailey was not an expert in the field of GSR testing. The trial court ruled that the Petitioner opened the door to the State's questioning and overruled the Petitioner's objection. The next day the Petitioner brought in a new argument for a motion for mistrial. The Petitioner argued that since Detective Bailey was not the individual who conducted the actual test his testimony violates the confrontation clause. The Respondent argues that it was too late to raise this argument. The opportunity had already passed, the Court of Appeals was correct that it was not preserved for review.

The present case before this Court is very similar to this Court's decision in *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 751 S.E.2d 645 (2013). In *Brockmeyer* the Appellant argued that the trial court erred in allowing items into evidence in violation of the confrontation clause.

William Mark Brockmeyer was convicted of shooting and killing Nicholas Rae. During trial the State introduced as evidence, the Appellant's t-shirt, a shell casing, magazine and pistol recovered near the murder scene, and a fired projectile recovered from Mr. Rae's neck during the autopsy. At the time the State moved to introduce these items into evidence the Appellant objected.

The objection was based solely on an insufficient foundation. *Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. at 344, 751 S.E.2d at 655. Later during the trial, the State attempted to introduce the fired projectile. The Appellant once again objected based on, “insufficient foundation of the chain of custody.” *Id.*, 406 S.C. At 345, 751 S.E.2d at 656. Later during the testimony of the SLED agent regarding receiving these items of evidence the Appellant objected finally alleging a violation of the confrontation clause.

Within the *Brockmeyer* opinion this Court decided:

We first find Brockmeyer’s claim is not preserved for appellate review. Although Brockmeyer objected to the admission of the t-shirt, the shell casing, the magazine, the .380 pistol, and the fired projectile, none of Brockmeyer’s initial objections alleged a Confrontation Clause violation; rather, Brockmeyer challenged only the sufficiency of the foundation for admitting each item. The issue of whether evidence is admissible under “state-law requirements regarding proof of foundational facts” is distinct from the issue of whether a defendant’s Sixth Amendment confrontation right was violated.

Thus, on appeal, Brockmeyer may not bootstrap a Confrontation Clause objection onto his objection to the State’s proof of foundational facts. Although Brockmeyer eventually raised Confrontation Clause objections, those objections were untimely as to the admission of the items themselves and do not preserve for appellate review the issue of whether that evidence was properly admitted.

*Id.*, 406 S.C. at 354, 751 S.E.2d at 659.

Within the present case the Petitioner initially objected to the results coming in through Detective Bailey due to the fact he was never introduced as an expert in GSR. There was never any mentioning of the Confrontation Clause during this initial objection. This was not raised until the next day when Petitioner made an attempt to raise this argument during a motion for mistrial. (R. p. 391 l. 21-23). Failure to contemporaneously object to a question not advanced as prejudicial cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial. *State v. Lynn*, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981).

Within their brief the Petitioner alleges that during their objection they raised the United States Supreme Court case of *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009)(certificates of state lab analysis being introduced without testimony of the lab operator violated the confrontation clause.) The Petitioner argues that the mentioning of this decision reveals they were arguing the confrontation clause during their initial objection. However, *Melendez-Diaz* was not raised until the next day. The Petitioner had ample opportunity to raise a violation of the confrontation clause at the time the GSR testing results were mentioned, and after Detective Bailey finished his testimony, but it was not done. Therefore, the Court of Appeals was correct in deciding this argument was not preserved for appeal. To preserve an issue for appellate review, an Appellant must object at his first opportunity. *State v. Sullivan*, 310 S.C. 311, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993). A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review. *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991).

The grounds being raised for an objection must be immediately made known to the trial court. If this is not done, then it is permanently waived. The reason for this is the trial court must have an opportunity to make an immediate and reasoned decision regarding an objection. The rationale behind the requirement of a contemporaneous objection is to enable trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument both for, or against, any particular legal position. *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 67, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991).

It is clear by the record that the Petitioner failed to raise a violation of the confrontation clause in a timely fashion. During Detective Bailey's testimony Petitioner raised an objection regarding Detective Bailey not being an expert in the field of GSR testing, not the confrontation clause. These two matters are totally different. There is no way the trial court should have assumed that the argument of the Petitioner would be anything, but the fact Detective Bailey was not

introduced as an expert in that field. Being an expert in a particular field relates to actual knowledge of a particular aspect being raised during testimony. The confrontation clause is related to the Sixth Amendment right that guarantees that “in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him. *Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. at 340, 751 S.E.2d at 653, quoting, *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 406, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965). Unless it is brought to the attention of the trial court, there is no way the trial court is going to know the issue of the confrontation clause is being raised. The Petitioner waiting until the next day to make this argument is too late for it to be preserved for appeal. That objection should have been made at the time the question was asked and answered by Detective Bailey. The Court of Appeals was correct, this issue was not preserved, so it could not be considered by the Court of Appeals. The decision of the Court of Appeals was correct and should not be reversed by this Court.

- 2. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding that even if the argument regarding the Confrontation Clause was preserved, Petitioner’s counsel opened the door to the State’s questioning regarding the results of the gunpowder residue test done on the co-defendant.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

During trial Detective Bailey testified as to the purpose of GSR kits and the fact there exists a six-hour window to perform these tests. (R. p. 344 l. 19 – p. 345 l. 2). He also testified that a GSR test was not done on the Petitioner. (R. p. 345 l. 15-16). During cross-examination the Petitioner inquired if any GSR test was done on Sanquan or Theodore. (R. p. 360 l. 8-11). Petitioner also asked Detective Bailey if the co-defendant was seen within this six-hour window, and if any GSR test was done on the co-defendant. (R. p. 360 l. 25 – p. 361 l. 1). On cross the defense also asked Detective Bailey if it was possible to retrieve GSR off clothing, and if the clothing of the co-defendant was collected and tested for GSR. (R. p. 361 l. 12-15).

On re-direct examination, the State asked Detective Bailey that since he was the case agent, he had access to all information collected in this case. (R. p. 362 l. 22-25). The State then inferred to Detective Bailey about having access to all of the information collected including results of the GSR tests. (R. p. 369 l. 15-18). The State then decided to inquire about the results of the GSR test done on the co-defendant. At the time Detective Bailey did not remember the results. The State offered to show Detective Bailey the test results only to refresh his memory. The Petitioner objected stating that Detective Bailey “is not an expert in the actual testing of GSR kits.” (R. p. 369 l. 22 – p. 370 l. 11). The State told the court they were not asking him as an expert only to refresh his memory on the results of the test.

The trial court allowed the testimony because he used his report just to refresh his recollection to information, he was already privy to. The trial court also ruled that Petitioner opened the door to this line of questioning when they asked Detective Bailey about the co-defendant testing for GSR. (R. p. 370 l. 11).

### **Standard of Review**

A litigant cannot complain of prejudice by reasons of an issue he has placed before the court. *Frazier v. Badger*, 361 S.C. 94, 104, 603 S.E.2d 587, 592 (2004). “Once a defendant opens the door, the solicitor’s invited response is appropriate so long as it... does not unfairly prejudice the defendant.” *State v. Simmons*, 430 S.C. 1, 14, 841 S.E.2d 845, 852 (2020), *quoting, Ellenberg v. State*, 367 S.C. 66, 69, 625 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006). Whether a person opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (2008). Otherwise, inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence. *Bowman v. State*, 422 S.C. 19, 40, 809 S.E.2d 232, 243 (2018).

## Discussion

Within a footnote in the *Rivers* opinion the Court of Appeals made this determination,

“Even if the issue were preserved, the trial court did not err in finding Rivers opened the door to the testimony because he asked the witness whether his codefendant was tested for GSR. *See, State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008)(Whether a person opens to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court.); *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845,848 (2006)(An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.); *State v. Beam*, 336 S.C. 45, 52, 518 S.E.2d 297, 301 (Ct. App. 1999)([A defendant] cannot complain about the admission of evidence where he opened the door to the evidence.); *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984)(Where one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even though [the] latter evidence would be incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially. (alteration in original)(quoting *State v. Albert*, 277 S.E.2d 439, 441 (N.C. 1981))”

*Rivers*, 2021 WL 52323315, n.1

It was clear by the questioning by the Petitioner he opened the door as to any results of the GSR test. Petitioner questioned Detective Bailey regarding the GSR test done on the co-defendant and victims as well as the clothing of the Petitioner and co-defendant (R. p. 360 l. 25 – p. 361 l. 15). So, it was only fair for the trial court to allow the State to question Detective Bailey as to the results since the Petitioner questioned him in such depth regarding the GSR tests. Not allowing the results into evidence would have left the jury wondering about these results. Where defense counsel purposefully and explicitly opens the door on a particular line of questioning, such conduct operates as a limited waiver allowing the government to introduce further evidence on the same topic. *U.S. v. Lopez-Medina*, 596 F.3d 716, 731 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010). The sole reason the trial court allowed the results into evidence was because the Petitioner open the door to this line of questioning.

The introduction of GSR being done on the victim and co-defendant was never objected to by the Petitioner. On cross-examination the Petitioner even inquired about certain aspects of the collection of GSR, including that fact it can be recovered from clothing and whether or not the clothing of the co-defendant was tested. The questioning regarding the GSR test being done on the co-defendant properly led the State to ask Detective Bailey about the co-defendant's GSR test results. If the Petitioner had not raised that line of questioning the State would not be able to inquire about these results. Since the Petitioner went at length about the test performed on the co-defendant the door was opened. The ruling of the Court of Appeals was lawful and should not be subject to reversal.

- 3. Even if the Court of Appeals erred in their decision the gun powder residue test was not the reason for the Petitioner's conviction, this ruling did not influence the final outcome so any error that might have been committed by the Court of Appeals, or the trial court should be considered harmless.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

There was ample evidence provided by the State proving the Petitioner guilty of these offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. There were numerous eyewitnesses who testified that the Petitioner and his co-defendant came to Antonio's apartment armed with weapons and while one looked for money the other held them at gunpoint. Law enforcement testified that Petitioner was found shot laying near a bag containing items from the robbery and a gun. The gun that matched ballistics as the murder weapon had the Petitioner's DNA on the trigger. Due to all of the facts presented proving the Petitioner's guilt, if the decision made by the Court of Appeals was in error it must be considered harmless.

#### **Standard of Review**

Error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the trial's outcome. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Most errors that occur during trial,

including those that violate a defendant's constitutional right, are trial error that are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Jenkins*, 412 S.C. 643, 651, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909 (2015).

### **Discussion**

The "harmless error doctrine is essential to preserve the 'principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence, and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error'" *State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013), *quoting*, *Delaware v. VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986).

Petitioner argues that his right to confrontation was denied due to the trial court allowing the results of the GSR testing into evidence through a witness not recognized as an expert in this field. Petitioner also argues that the negative result of the GSR from the co-defendant was an important part of the state's case. The State introduced more definitive evidence proving that the Petitioner committed these crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. So, if any error occurred it must be considered harmless.

The United States and South Carolina Supreme Courts have determined the criteria that the court must use to consider if an actual error can be considered harmless. In the case of *State v.*

*Gracely*, this Court decided:

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors... The factors include the *importance of the witness's testimony* in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was *cumulative*, the presence or absence of evidence *corroborating* or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the *extent of cross examination* otherwise permitted, and, of course, the *overall strength* of the prosecution's case.

*State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 375 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012)(emphasis in original), *quoting*, *VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. at 673.

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